I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


1. 	The Petitioner asserts that the Trial Court erred in denying the Petitioner's Motion To 

Dismiss Indictment based upon the Petitioner's allegations of misleading testimony 

presented to the Grand Jury, upon the Petitioner's assertion that the other evidence 

presented to the Grand Jury was insufficient to obtain an indictment, and the Petitioner's 

assertion that WV Code § 61-6-24 was misapplied by the Respondent in contravention of 

legislative intent. 

2. 	 The Petitioner asserts that the Trial Court erred in denying the Petitioner's Motion For 

Judgment Of Acquittal based on insufficiency of evidence made at the close of the 

Respondent's case in chief at the trial of this matter. 

3. 	 The Petitioner asserts that the Trial Court erred in denying the Petitioner's post trial 

motions for Judgment Of Acquittal and New Trial based on grounds of insufficiency of 

evidence. 

4. 	 The Petitioner asserts that the Respondent State of West Virginia failed to present 

evidence at trial sufficient to overcome the Petitioner's Constitutional presumption of 

innocence, and failed to present evidence from which a jury could find guilt beyond a 

reasonable doubt as to all ofthe elements of the offense charged. 



II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 


The basic facts and history of the case are not in dispute. The Petitioner is a disabled truck 

driver who lived with his Mother in her home in rural Pocahontas County, West Virginia. At 

various points between November 2015 and February 2016, the Petitioner is alleged to have 

made statements to his Mother while in the home to the effect that he would like to travel to 

the State of Maryland and "kill several of his family members" and further that "he would like 

to become like one of those individuals who kill a bunch of people to get attention because he 

doesn't know anyone in West Virginia, and no one knows him". Indictment, Appendix Item 1. 

The Petitioner's Mother reported these statements to Pocahontas County Sheriff's Deputy Troy 

McCoy who filed a criminal complaint alleging a violation of WV Code § 61-6-24 and arrested 

the Petitioner on March 8, 2016. The Petitioner was unable to post bond and was incarcerated. 

The matter was eventually bound over to the Circuit Court to await potential indictment. 

Deputy McCoy was the sole witness testifying before the Pocahontas County Grand Jury, who 

returned a one count indictment charging a violation of WV Code § 61-6-24 on August 2, 2016. 

Indictment, Appendix Item 1; and Grand Jury Transcript, Appendix Item 2. 

After approximately six months, the Petitioner's original court appointed counsel withdrew 

at the Petitioner's request, and the undersigned was appointed to represent the Petitioner by 

Order entered October 26, 2016. The Petitioner filed a Motion To Dismiss Indictment on 

December 2,2016. Appendix Item 3. The Petitioner filed an Addendum To Motion To Dismiss 

Indictment on December 6, 2016. Appendix Item 4. The Respondent State of West Virginia filed 

no response to either the Motion To Dismiss Indictment or to the Addendum To Motion To 



Dismiss Indictment. This Motion was denied by written Order of the Court entered December 

13, 2016. Appendix Item 11. 

A jury trial was held in the matter on December 15, 2016. The Respondent State of West 

Virginia presented just two witnesses; Deputy McCoy and the Petitioner's Mother. The 

entirety of the Respondent's case in chief, including cross examination by the defense takes up 

only 20 pages of transcript. Trial Transcript, Appendix Item 12, pgs. 73 -92. The Petitioner 

moved for a Judgment of Acquittal at the close of the Respondent's case in chief based on 

insufficiency of the evidence. This motion was denied by the Trial Court. Trial Transcript, 

Appendix Item 12, pgs. 92 - 96. The Petitioner declined to present any evidence or to testify in 

his own defense on the advice of counsel. The jury was properly instructed by the Trial Court, 

the closing arguments of counsel were heard, and the case was turned over to the jury for 

deliberations. After a time the jury returned seeking a copy of WV Code § 61-6-24, and the 

transcript of the testimony of one of the two witnesses. After discussions with counsel the Trial 

Court sent back Jury Instruction Number Three regarding the elements of the statute, and 

denied the jury's request for a transcript of testimony at all parties agreement. Trial Transcript, 

pgs. 132 - 134. After a time the jury returned and announced that they were unable to reach a 

unanimous decision. The Trial Court read the Allen Charge to the jury and sent them back for 

further deliberations. Trial Transcript, pgs. 134 - 136. After a time the jury returned with a 

verdict of guilty. Trial Transcript, pg. 136 - 138. 

The Petitioner moved for Judgment Of Acquittal on grounds of insufficiency of evidence, 

asking that the jury's verdict be set aside. The Trial Court asked that post trial motions be 
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made in writing. Trial Transcript, pg. 139. The Petitioner filed a Motion For New Trial and a 

Motion For Judgment of Acquittal on December 23,2016. Appendix Item 7, and Appendix Item 

8. Respondent State of West Virginia filed no written response to either motion. The Trial 

Court denied both motions after a hearing held on January 25,2017. Court Order Of January 25, 

2017 Post Trial Motions Hearing, Appendix Item 9. 

On March 29, 2017 the Petitioner was sentenced to incarceration in the state penitentiary 

for the indeterminate period of not less than one nor more than three years, with credit for 387 

days time served. Sentencing Order, Appendix Item 10. This appeal follows. 

As of the date of the filing of this appeal, the Petitioner remains incarcerated at the St. Marys 

Correctional Center with a projected release date of September 5,2017. 

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

1. 	 Argument For Dismissal Of Indictment; Assignment Of Error One: The Trial Court erred in 

denying the Petitioner's Motion To Dismiss Indictment where the Petitioner alleged that 

misleading testimony had been presented to the Grand Jury. The Petitioner asserts that the 

court below should have conducted an in camera review ofthe transcript ofthe 

presentment to determine both the legality and sufficiency of the other evidence, whether 

that other evidence was legally sufficient to obtain an indictment, and whether the 

Respondent misapplied the charging statute in contravention of legislative intent. 

2. 	 Argument For Insufficient Evidence; Assignment Of Error Two: The Trial Court erred in 

denying the Petitioner's Motion Judgment ofAcquittal at the close of the Respondent's case 



in chief when the Respondent had presented insufficient evidence to support a prima facie 

case, allowing the case to proceed to jury consideration on insufficient evidence on the 

required element of a making a knowing, willful threat to commit a "terrorist act" as such 

act is defined in West Virginia Code § 61-6-24. Specifically that the Respondent failed to 

present sufficient evidence that statements made by the Petitioner were threats at all, 

rather than simple statements of desire or "like", constitutionally protected free speech in 

the home; and further that if in fact the statements were deemed to be actual threats, 

whether they were threats to commit a terrorist act as such is defined by the two-pronged 

test set forth in § 61-6-24(a)(3): "an act likely to result in serious bodily injury or damage to 

property or the environment, and which was intended to intimidate or coerce the civilian 

population". The Trial Court's error in denying the Petitioner's Motion for Judgment of 

Acquittal at the close of the Respondent's evidence allowed a case charging a violation 

of a statute so complex that the court below and experienced counsel had difficulty fully 

agreeing on its meaning to go to a jury for deliberation on insufficient evidence as to the 

required elements. 

3. 	 Argument For Insufficient Evidence, Assignment Of Error Three: The Trial Court erred in 

denying the Petitioner's post trial motions for Judgment of Acquittal and New Trial where 

the Respondent presented insufficient evidence to rise to the level of proof beyond a 

reasonable doubt on the element of the making a threat to commit a terrorist act, as 

"terrorist act" is defined by West Virginia Code § 61-6-24, where the jury obviously had 

some disagreement as to the meaning of that statute as shown by their request for a 
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written version of the statute to review during deliberations, and where the jury had some 

obvious difficulty in reaching a unanimous verdict as shown by the necessity of the Trial 

Court's use of the Allen Charge in order to aid the jury in their time of doubt and 

disagreement. 

4. 	 Argument For Insufficient Evidence, Assignment Of Error Four: The evidence presented by 

the Respondent State of West Virginia in the trial of this matter, even when viewed in the 

light most favorable to the Respondent, does not rise to a level sufficient to overcome the 

Petitioner's Constitutional presumption of innocence, nor does any of the evidence 

presented rise to the level of proof beyond a reasonable doubt as to all elements of the 

crime needed to support the jury verdict of guilty.. 

IV. STATEMENT AND DECISION REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

Pursuant to Rule 18 of the West Virginia Rules Of Appellate Procedure, the Petitioner does 

not deem oral argument to be necessary in this case as the facts and legal arguments are 

adequately presented by the briefs and record on appeal, and that the decisional process would 

not be significantly aided by oral argument. The Petitioner does not request oral arguments in 

this matter. 



V. ARGUMENT 


1. 	 The Trial Court erred in denying the Petitioner's Motion To Dismiss Indictment based on 

the Petitioner's allegations of misleading testimony presented to the Grand Jury, the 

Petitioner's assertion that the other evidence presented was insufficient to obtain an 

indictment, and the Petitioner's assertion that WV Code § 61-6-24 was misapplied by the 

Respondent in contravention of legislative intent. 

The Petitioner recognizes that as a general rule prosecuting attorneys may seek to indict any 

person for the commission of any criminal offense set out in the West Virginia Code. The 

Petitioner also acknowledges that as general rule trial courts do not look behind the evidence 

presented to a grand jury to determine the propriety of any charge that may be contained in the 

indictment, or the sufficiency of the evidence presented to obtain the indictment. 

The current state of West Virginia law generally on the issue of trial court examination of the 

sufficiency ofindictments is set out in State ex. reI. Pinson v. Maynard, 181 W. Va. 662, 383 

S.E. 2d 844 (1989), hereinafter Pinson,: 

"Except for willful, intentional fraud, the law of this state does not permit the court to 


go behind an indictment to inquire into the evidence considered by the grand jury, 


either to determine its legality or sufficiency. " 


However, the same case goes on to say that: 

"When perjured or misleading testimony to a grand jury is discovered before trial, 


and there is no evidence ofprosecutorial misconduct, the State may withdraw the 


indictment without prejudice, or request that the court hold an in camera hearing 


to inspect the grand jury transcripts to determine ifother sufficient evidence exists 


to support the indictment." 
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The Petitioner does not allege willful, intentional fraud on the part the Respondent, but the 

Petitioner did and does raise the issue that misleading testimony on the part of the Respondent, 

through inattention and negligence, was presented to the grand jury and not discovered until the 

transcript of those proceedings was received from the Court Reporter on November 29,2016, 

just a shade over two weeks before the trial scheduled for December 15, 2016. Grand Jury 

transcript, pg. 10. The Petitioner asserts that Pinson gives the trial court discretion to review the 

transcript for legality and sufficiency under such circumstances as this case presented. The 

Petitioner asserts that a review of the transcript would reveal that the other evidence presented 

was insufficient to obtain an indictment. 

Deputy McCoy was the sole witness testifying before the grand jury. The Petitioner asserts 

that the following testimony was misleading: 

1. The Prosecutor sought and Deputy McCoy provided testimony regarding domestic 

violence petitions and mental hygiene involuntary hospitalizations allegedly involving the 

Petitioner without presenting any documentary proofofsuch proceedings in an effort to 

paint the Petitioner as a violent and mentally unstable man. 

Grand Jury Transcript, Appendix Item Two, pgs. 6 - 8. 

2. The Prosecutor had Deputy McCoy testify as to his own personal opinion as the only 

evidence presented on the elements required by § 61-6-24(a)(3). Specifically, Deputy 

McCoy was asked whether in his opinion the acts allegedly threatened were likely to result 

in serious bodily injury, and whether in the Deputy's opinion "the threat and the way he 

was acting served to intimidate or coerce even the civilian population here in Pocahontas 

County, West Virginia". Grand Jury Transcript, pgs. 6 -7. This was the only evidence 

presented to the grand jury on those elements. 



3. The transcript of the grand jury proceedings also contains an impermissible reference to the 

Defendant exercising his Fifth Amendment right to refuse to answer questions of the 

police, and to his being incarcerated at the time of the grand jury presentment. To be clear, 

this testimony was not solicited by the Prosecutor, but came by a question from one of the 

grand jurors. Never the less, the Prosecutor has the affirmative duty to see to it that 

proceedings comport with the law, and to prevent his witness from answering improper 

questions from the grand jury, or giving answers to such questions which could be 

impermissible. This is so as neither the grand juror nor the witness may be aware of the 

impermissible nature of the question or answer. The impermissible questions and answers 

are as follows: 

Grand Juror: Where is he living now and have you interviewed him yourself? 


Deputy McCoy: He is currently housed at the Tygart Valley Regional Jail. 


Grand Juror: And have you interviewed him yourself? 


Deputy McCoy: No. He would not. He refused to be interviewed. 


Grand Jury Transcript, pg 8. 


Both questions elicited improper testimony from Deputy McCoy. The last answer in 


particular was designed to convey to the grand jury that the Petitioner had been given an 

opportunity to explain himself and to deny the charges against him, but that he had not done so, 

therefore he must be guilty. This is precisely why such statements are viewed as violations of a 

defendant's Fifth Amendment due process rights in every court in the country, and are not 

permitted to be considered as evidence in any action for any purpose. 

The Petitioner asserts that since misleading and improper testimony was presented to the 

grand jury, and no evidence of intentional fraud on the part of the Prosecutor was alleged, the 
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Court erred in not conducting an in camera review of the transcript to determine if other 

sufficient evidence existed to support the indictment as set out in Pinson, infra. The Court 

below denied the Motion based on the fact that the Petitioner did not raise an allegation of 

willful, intentional, fraud on the part ofthe Respondent; and that since there was no such 

allegation the trial court felt constrained by Pinson to decline to review the legality or 

sufficiency of the evidence presented to the grand jury in this matter. Had the Trial Court 

reviewed the transcript as the Petitioner asserts that Pinson provides for, the court below may 

have reached a different conclusion, and not erred in denying the Petitioner's Motion To 

Dismiss Indictment. Order Denying Motion To Dismiss Indictment, Appendix Item 11. 

WV Code § 61-6-24 requires that in order to obtain a lawful indictment, the State must 

prove by evidence rising to the level of probable cause that a defendant knowingly and willfully 

threatened to commit a terrorist act. As applied in this case, § 61-6-24(a){3) defines a terrorist 

act as an act that is: 

(A) Likely to result in serious bodily injury or damage to property or the environment; and 

(B) Intended to: 

(i) intimidate or coerce the civilian population. 

As set out above, the only evidence presented to the Grand Jury by the Respondent on the 

elements of the crime set out in § 61-6-24(a)(3) above was scant. The transcript provides the 

following: 

Prosecutor: Based on your investigation, did you consider that this type ofthreat and 


the way that he was acting was likely to result in, perhaps, serious bodily injury ? 


Deputy McCoy: Yes, I do. Grand Jury Transcript, pg. 6., and; 
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Prosecutor: And, also based on your investigation, did you feel that this type of threat and 

the way that he was acting served to intimidate or coerce even the civilian population here 

in Pocahontas County, West Virginia? 

Deputy McCoy: Yes, sir. 

The Respondent presented no testimony as to what facts Deputy McCoy's investigation 

revealed that led him to form such concrete and absolute opinions; or exactly what evidence he 

obtained that tended to show that Petitioner intended to intimidate or coerce the civilian 

population, or how the Petitioner intended to accomplish the intimidation or coercion ofthe 

civilian population, or what goals the Petitioner hoped the intimidation or coercion would 

further. No evidence of plans, writings, documents, caches of weapons or any other 

preparation to carry out a terrorist act intended to cause great physical injury and intended to 

intimidate or coerce the civilian population was presented. 

The other evidence presented by the Respondent to the Grand Jury, without any 

consideration of the misleading and improper evidence, was insufficient to establish probable 

cause on the essential elements required by WV Code § 61-6-24. The Trial Court erred in 

denying the Petitioner's Motion To Dismiss Indictment. 

The final argument the Petitioner makes as to the Motion To Dismiss Indictment is one for 

the good faith expansion of existing law to allow the trial court to review not only the legal 

sufficiency ofthe other evidence in cases where misleading or unlawful testimony is presented 

to a grand jury but to also look at the facts alleged in a indictment to determine if the State is 

overreaching by obtaining indictments on evidence of acts the legislature did not intend to 

criminalize in the charging statute. For this argument the Petitioner relies on the examination of 
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the legislative intent in enacting WV Code §61-6-24, and the types of acts and intentions which 

the Supreme Court found to be the clear focus of the statute contained in State v. YOCw:TI, 233 

W.Va. 439, 759 S.E. 2d 182 (2014), hereinafter Yokum. 

In Yocum, the Defendant was accused ofmaking terrorist threats by making threats to 

commit grievous personal harm to family members ofthe police officer who was arresting him 

in an effort to intimidate or coerce the officer into not arresting him. Supreme Court had a case 

of first impression regarding § 61-6-24, and found it wise and prudent to review similar statutes 

from other jurisdictions to aid in detennining the intent of the West Virginia legislature. The 

Court in Yocum found the following to be indicative of the legislature's intent: 

"Acts ofterrorism typically involve politically motivated and mass-targeted harm 

caused by incendiary or other means capable of causing significant mortal injury." 

Yocum, at pg. 6. 

"Despite the variance in statutory enactments which address terrorism, there is 

consensus that both violence and a political purpose or motivation are universal 

components included in this type of legislation. " Yocum, at pg. 7. 

"It is noteworthy that not one of the four delineations of the intent necessary to 

come within the definition of a "terrorist act" is framed in terms of causing harm 

to an individual. The fIrst defmition of the requisite intent necessary to commit a 

statutorily defmed "terrorist act" involves conduct aimed at the civilian population 

as a whole, and the remaining three all require conduct that is directed at a branch 

or level ofgovernment as a whole." Yocum, at pg. 7, emphasis added. 

None of the statements attributed to the Petitioner and presented as evidence at trial contained 

any reference to any political motivation on the part of the Petitioner, or that he had any political 
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motivation for his statements whatsoever. No evidence was presented which tended to prove 

that his statements were intended to intimidate or coerce the civilian population as a whole. No 

evidence was presented as to how the Petitioner expected to benefit politically from making 

threats which were allegedly intended to intimidate or coerce the civilian population as a whole. 

No evidence was presented as to what the Petitioner expected to intimidate or coerce the civilian

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