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

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

Petitioner's claims must be rejected. First, Petitioner does not allege that willful, 

intentional fraudulent testimony was given in front of the grand jury and he cannot establish that 

the State willfully and knowingly allowed fraudulent testimony in front of the grand jury. As such, 

the circuit court properly denied his Motion to Dismiss Indictment. Second, the State's evidence 

was more than sufficient to meet every element contained in W. Va. Code § 61-6-24. The jury 

3 Petitioner requested that this hearing be transcribed and the State requested that the transcript of this 
hearing be included in the Appendix. However, Petitioner filed the Appendix without this transcript noting 
that it was not finished yet at the time of filing his brief. Respondent contacted the court reporter in attempts 
to obtain a copy but was notified that it had not been paid for and it would not be transcribed. 
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heard the direct testimony, along with testimony on cross-examination of Officer McCoy and 

Petitioner's mother, Mrs. Back. The jury was instructed that it, and only it, needed to decide the 

credibility of each witness' testimony. The jury weighed the credibility of each witness and 

unanimously found that Petitioner made a terroristic threat. Petitioner has failed to identify any 

reason to overturn the jury's verdict, and his claims must fail. Therefore, the circuit court's 

decision must be affirmed. 

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

The State concurs with Petitioner that oral argument is not warranted in this case. The 

issues raised in Petitioner's assignments oferror are covered by settled law. The appropriate legal 

arguments are fully presented in the parties' briefs. The decisional process would not be 

significantly aided by oral argument and this case is suitable for disposition by memorandum 

decision. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. Standard of review. 

For clarity's sake, and because the standard of review varies between assignments of error, 

the standard of review is set forth in each section. 

B. The circuit court properly denied Petitioner's Motion to Dismiss Indictment. 

Petitioner first argues that the circuit court erred in denying his Motion to Dismiss 

Indictment. (pet'r's Brief at 7-13). In support of this assignment of error that the indictment 

should have been dismissed, Petitioner advances two arguments: (1) that misleading evidence was 

presented to the grand jury and the circuit court should have conducted an in camera review of the 

grand jury transcript to determine both the legality and sufficiency of the other evidence and (2) 
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the State misapplied the charging statute in contravention of legislative intent. (ld. at 7-13). 

Petitioner's claims are without merit. 

1. 	 The circuit court properly denied Petitioner's Motion to Dismiss Indictment 
without conducting an in camera review of the grand jury transcript. 

In analyzing the denial ofamotion to dismiss an indictment, this Court's standard ofreview 

is generally de novo. State v. Spinks, No. 15-1145,2017 WL 2626386 at *10 (June 16, 2017) 

(memorandum decision); State v. Davis, 205 W.Va. 569,578,519 S.E.2d 852,861'(1999). 

This Court 'has consistently held that "[ c ]riminal defenda:rits . . . frequently [ seek] to 

challenge the validity of grand jury indictments on the ground that they are not supported by 

adequate or competent evidence. [Such a] contention, however, [usually] runs counter to the 

function of the grand jury, which is not to determine the truth of the charges against the defendant, 

but to determine whether there is sufficient probable cause to require the defendant to stand trial." 

State ex reI. Pinson v. Maynard, 181 W. Va. 662,665,383 S.E.2d 844, 847 (1989); see also State 

v. Dailey, 72 W. Va. 520, 79 S.E. 668, 669 (1913) (explaining that the grand jury is a "tribunal 

representing the people" that is "[e ]ntrusted with the power to say when a crime has been 

committed, and when a prosecution should be begun against the person" and that to permit a 

"[circuit] court to inquire into the legality, or sufficiency, of the evidence on which the grand jury 

acted, would be to substitute, in a measure, the opinion of the court for that of the grand jury, and 

would ultimately lead to the destruction of the grand jury system"). 

Furthermore, in Pinson this Court explained that in nearly all cases "an examination of the 

evidence presented to the grand jury would not be in the interests of the efficient administration of 

justice nor the maintenance of the integrity of the grand jury system." Pinson, 181 W. Va. at 666, 

383 S.E.2d at 848; see also Barker v. Fox, 160 W.Va. 749,238 S.E.2d 235,235 (1977) (explaining 

that "there are three primary reasons [to] pro s crib [ e] inquiries into the legal sufficiency ofevidence 
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considered by grand juries. First, the grand jury serves as the voice of the community in calling 

forth suspected criminals to answer for their alleged misdeeds. This ancient function of the grand 

jury would be undermined by permitting the circuit court to review the legal sufficiency of the 

evidence .... Secondly, such a review would produce unacceptable delays in criminal 

proceedings. Finally, in cases where the evidence against the accused is indeed insufficient, he can 

expect to be vindicated of the charges against him by acquittal at trial."). Therefore, the rule in 

West Virginia is that circuit courts do not routinely "peek behind the veil" to assess the evidence 

presented to the grand jury, and specifically that: 

Except for willful, intentional fraud the law of this State does not permit the court 
to go behind an indictment to inquire into the evidence considered by the grand 
jury, either to determine its legality or its sufficiency. 

Syllabus, Barker, 160 W. Va. at 749,238 S.E.2d at 235; accord Syl. Pt. 2, Pinson, 181 W. Va. at 

663,383 S.E.2d at 845. 

In this appeal, Petitioner asserts that Pinson "gives the trial court the discretion to review 

the transcript for legality' and sufficiency under such circumstances as this presented." (Pet'r's 

Brief at 8). In support ofhis contention, Petitioner identifies three (3) pieces of evidence presented 

to the grand jury which he believes are indicative of the State offering "misleading,,4 statements: 

(1) Officer McCoy provided testimony regarding domestic violence petitions and mental hygiene 

involuntary hospitalizations involving Petitioner without any documentary evidence; (2) Officer 

McCoy provided his own personal opinion; and (3) an impermissible reference to Petitioner 

refusing to answer questions of law enforcement. (pet'r's Brief at 8-9). However, in his brief, 

4 As stated herein, Petitioner contends that these three (3) statements are "misleading." According to 
Black's Law Dictionary, the definition of "misleading" is "calculated to be misunderstood." Black's Law 
Dictionary 460 (3rd Pocket ed. 2006). However, there is no allegation by Petitioner that these statements 
are in fact untrue. (See generally Pet'r's Brief at 8-9). Furthermore, the record is devoid of any showing 
that Officer McCoy made or intended to make statements calculated to be misunderstood. 
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Petitioner explicitly states that he "does not allege willful, intentional fraud on tlte part of the 

Respondent[.]" (Pet'r's Brief at 8) (emphasis added). Furthermore, as the circuit court aptly noted, 

Petitioner "[did] not allege that Chief Deputy T.A. McCoy perpetrated any willful, intentional 

fraud on the grand jury during his testimony." (App. at 40). There is no evidence in the record 

that demonstrates these statements were made with any fraudulent intention or in fact were 

incorrect. As such, there can be no question that these statements were not willfully and 

intentionally fraudulent. Therefore, Petitioner's contention that the indictment should have been 

dismissed plainly falls short of the standard set forth in Pinson and Barker. 

Moreover, as noted above, Petitioner solely relies on Pinson in support of his contention. 

However, the circumstances in Pinson are very different than the circumstances faced in this 

appeal and Petitioner misreads Pinson. In Pinson, the issue was "whether [a witness's] misleading 

testimony required the grand jury's indictment to be dismissed with prejudice." Pinson, 181 W. 

Va. at 665, 383 S.E.2d at 847 (emphasis in original). This Court noted that the record before it 

was incomplete and assumed for the sake of argument that while there was no prosecutorial 

misconduct, "the circuit court was correct in its finding ofa prima facie case of willful, intentional 

fraud" on the part ofthe testifying witness. ld., 181 W. Va. at 664-66, 383 S.E.2d at 846-48. After 

finding that there was intentionalfraud on the part ofthe witness, this Court's next step was to 

determine if the indictment sltould be dismissed with prejudice. Id., 181 W. Va. at 666, 383 

S.E.2d at 848. This Court discussed several other jurisdictional cases in coming to its holding that 

"where perjured or misleading testimony presented to the grand jury is discovered before trial and 

there is no evidence ofprosecutorial misconduct, the State may withdraw the indictment without 

prejudice, or request the court to hold an in camera hearing to inspect the grand jury transcripts 

and determine if other sufficient evidence exists to support the indictment." Id., 181 W. Va. at 
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669, 383 S.E.2d at 851 (emphasis in original). As such, in Pinson, before this Court got to the 

point in the analysis of whether an indictment should be dismissed or whether there should be an 

in camera review, a finding of willful, intentional fraudulent conduct must first be made.s 

Here, Petitioner has never alleged that there was prosecutorial misconduct nor has he 

alleged that there was any willful, intentional fraudulent conduct on the part of Officer McCoy. 

As such, the circuit court properly found that it could not go behind the indictment in this case and 

denied Petitioner's motion. 

Furthem10re, even assuming for the sake of argument that these statements were 

misleading (which they were not), the finding of guilt on the one and only count sent to the jury 

cured any assumed deficiency in the grand jury testimony. Pinson, 181 W. Va. at 667,383 S.E.2d 

at 849 (approving reasoning "that errors before a grand jury, such as perjured testimony, could 

easily be corrected during a trial with its incumbent procedural and evidentiary safeguards."); State 

v. Shanton, No. 16-0266,2017 WL 2555734, at *5 (W. Va. June 13,2017) (memorandum 

decision); United States v. Mechanik, 475 U.S. 66, 70 (1986) ("[T]he petit jury's subsequent guilty 

verdict means not only that there was probable cause to believe that the defendants were guilty as 

charged, but also that they are in fact guilty as charged beyond a reasonable doubt. Measured by 

the petit jury's verdict, then, any error in the grand jury proceeding connected with the charging 

decision was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt."); Talamante v. Romero, 620 F.2d 784, 791 

(10th Cir. 1980) ("Even if the perjured testimony had been brought to the attention of the grand 

jury, it seems highly unlikely, in view of the petit jury's later finding of guilt after a full trial, that 

5 See State ex rei. Knotts v. Watt, 186 W. Va. 518, 521-22, 413 S.E.2d 173, 176-77 (1991) ("State ex rei. 
Pinson v. Maynard . .. illustrates this sort of error. Pinson considered whether testimony of a key grand 
jury witness was so false and fraudulent that the indictment was properly dismissed with prejudice. We 
discussed, at some length, the dismissal of an indictment because of misleading or fraudulent testimony."). 
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the grand jury would have failed to indict based on probable cause. Such negates the inference of 

constitutional error."). Therefore, the circuit court did not err.6 

2. 	 The circuit court properly denied Petitioner's Motion to Dismiss Indictment 
because the State did not misapply the charging statute in contravention of 
legislative intent. 

Next, Petitioner contends that the circuit court erred in not dismissing the indictment 

because the State misapplied the charging statute in contravention of its legislative intent. (pet'r's 

Brief at 11-13). This argument is equally unmeritorious. As discussed above, and as has been 

recently reiterated by this Court, "[e]xcept for willful, intentional fraud the law of this State does 

not permit the court to go behind an indictment to inquire into the evidence considered by the 

grand jury, either to determine its legality or its sufficiency." State ex rei. State v. Wilson, No. 17

0449,2017 WL 4766661, at *5 (W. Va. Oct. 19,2017) (memorandum decision). In Wilson, the 

petitioner was indicted by a grand jury on a single count: threatening terroristic acts. Id. at *2. 

The circuit court, sua sponte, dismissed the indictment becaus'e it found the conduct at issue not to 

be directed at the civilian population as a whole or directed to a branch or level of government as 

a whole. Id. The State then filed a writ of prohibition seeking relief. Id. This Court granted the 

writ and reinstated the indictment. Id. at *6. Specifically, this Court discussed State v. Yocum 7 

(which Petitioner here relies on as support for this assignment of error) and found that "Yocum, 

which concerned a conviction following a jury trial and not a challenge to the indictment, is 

dissimilar to the current matter." Id. at *5. This Court further reasoned that "[m]anifestly, the 

State did not present its entire case against the defendant before the grand jury." Id. at *4. Rather, 

6 In his brief, Petitioner goes on to discuss why he believes there was insufficient evidence presented to the 
grand jury. However, this argument need not be specifically addressed because as stated above, the court 
could not look behind the indictment at the sufficiency of the evidence and even if there was insufficient 
evidence, it was cured by the fact that ajury found Petitioner guilty. 

7233 W. Va. 439, 759 S.E.2d 182 (2014). 
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the State only presented enough evidence "to the extent necessary to satisfy the probable cause 

standard." Id As such, the "circuit court improperly interceded and supplanted the function of 

the grand jury by dismissing the indictment, sua sponte, with prejudice" and "the State was 

deprived of its right to prosecute the case and seek a valid conviction." Id at *6. Furthermore, as 

the United States Supreme Court has thoroughly explained: 

If indictments were to be held open to challenge on the ground that there was 
inadequate or incompetent evidence before the grand jury, the resulting delay 
would be great indeed. The result of such a rule would be that before trial on the 
merits a defendant could always insist on a kind of preliminary trial to determine 
the competency and adequacy of the evidence before the grand jury. This is not 
required by the Fifth Amendment. An indictment returned by a legally constituted 
and unbiased grand jury, like an information drawn by the prosecutor, if valid on 
its face, is enough to call for trial of the charge on the merits. The Fifth Amendment 
requires nothing more. 

Costello v. United States, 350 U.S. 359,363 (1956). As such, the circuit court properly denied the 

Motion to Dismiss the Indictment. 8 

C. 	The State presented sufficient evidence at trial to fmd Petiti"oner guilty beyond a 
reasonable doubt as to all of the elements of the offense charged.9 

At the close of the State's case-in-chief, and then again post-trial, Petitioner invoked Rule 

29 of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure and asked the circuit court to grant him a 

Judgment of Acquittal. (App. at 30-33, .134-38). On appeal, Petitioner asserts that the State failed 

to present sufficient evidence at tria.! to find Petitioner guilty beyond a reasonable doubt as to all 

8 Further, as demonstrated below, this argument has no merit because there was sufficient evidence to 
convict Petitioner pursuant to the Statute (as the jury in this case did). 

9 Petitioner's second, third, and fourth assignments of error all concern an allegation that there was 
insufficient evidence essentially as to all elements of the crime of threatening terroristic acts. (See Pet'r's 
Brief at 13-19). Because these three (3) assignments of error include the same argument for each, for 
clarity's sake, Respondent will address all three (3) assignments at once. See E.B. v. W. Virginia Reg'l Jail, 
No. 16-0090,2017 WL 383779, at *4 (W. Va. Jan. 27, 2017) (memorandum decision) ("Petitioner'S first 
eleven assignments of error concerning the grant of summary judgment to Respondent St. Mary's strike at 
this conclusion, and we consider all of those assignments under a single umbrella."). 
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of the elements of the offense charged. (Pet'r's Brief at 13-19). A review of the record reveals 

that the State presented sufficient evidence as to each of the elements of the threatening terroristic 

threats statute. Thus, Petitioner's argument is without merit. 

It is well-established in West Virginia that "[a] c.riminal defendant challenging the 

sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction takes on a heavy burden." Syl. Pt.3, in part, 

State v. Guthrie, 194 W. Va. 657, 657, 461 S.E.2d 163, 163 (1995). See also State v. LaRock, 196

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